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Purpose: To safeguard residents/tenants from abuse, neglect, misappropriation of 

property and injury of unknown origin.  To provide information about reporting, 
conducting an investigation and documenting investigative findings. Each 
resident has the right to be free from abuse, corporal punishment, and 
involuntary seclusion. Residents must not be subjected to abuse by anyone, 
including, but not limited to, facility staff, other residents, consultants or 
volunteers, staff of other agencies serving the resident, family members or 
legal guardians, friends, or other individuals. Because the federal definitions 
do not specify that the incident has to involve a caregiver, nursing homes are 
required to submit allegations of mistreatment by anyone, including resident-
to-resident incidents, immediately (within 24 hours) to DQA. 

 
Policy:  

• Per CMS direction, all nursing homes must report all alleged violations 
involving mistreatment, neglect, or abuse, including injuries of unknown 
source, and misappropriation of resident property immediately within 24 
hours to the facility administrator and to the Division of Quality Assurance 
(DQA). The facility must have evidence that all alleged violations are 
thoroughly investigated, and must prevent further incidents while the 
investigation is in progress. The results of all investigations must be 
reported to the administrator and to the DQA Office of Caregiver Quality 
(OCQ) within 5 working days of the incident. Additionally, if the alleged 
violation is verified, the facility must take appropriate corrective action. 

• It is the policy of RASLC that the rights of residents/tenants entrusted to 
this facility for care shall always be respected, and, in addition, the 
reporting, investigating, notification and posting requirements of both 
Federal and State law will be met.  Alleged violations to Resident/Tenant 
Rights are immediately reported and investigated. 

• Incidents of injury of unknown origin will be immediately investigated to 
identify possible cause or pattern of injuries and to rule out covert cases of 
possible resident/tenant mistreatment. 

• RASLC will not employ individuals who have been convicted of abusing, 
neglecting or mistreating individuals. 

• Facility has “zero tolerance” approach to caregiver misconduct/abuse, 
neglect, and misappropriation of property. 

 
Supportive Data:  

A. BQA Memo: Nursing Home Requirements for Alleged Incidents of Abuse,    
Neglect and Misappropriations. 

  B.   State and Federal Regulations: 
1. 42 CFR 483.13(b): “The resident/tenant has the right to be free from 

verbal, sexual, physical, and mental abuse, corporal punishment, and 
involuntary seclusion.” 



2. 42 CFR 483.13(c)(2): The facility must ensure that all alleged violations 
involving mistreatment, neglect, or abuse, including injuries of unknown 
source, and misappropriation of resident/tenant property are reported 
immediately to the administrator of the facility and to other officials in 
accordance with State law through established procedures (including to 
the State survey and certification agency). 

3. 42 CFR 483.13(c)(4): The results of all investigations must be reported to 
the administrator or his designated representative; to BQA and other 
officials in accordance with State law (including to the State survey and 
certification agency) immediately, not to exceed 24 hours after discovery 
of the incident, and if the alleged violation is verified appropriate corrective 
action must be taken. 

4. 42 CFR 483.13(c)(1)(iii): An aide or other facility staff found guilty of 
neglect, abuse, or mistreating residents/tenants or misappropriation of 
property by a court of law, must have his or her name entered into the 
nurse aide registry, or reported to the licensing authority, if applicable. 
Further, if a facility determines that actions by a court of law against an 
employee are such that they indicate that the individual is unsuited to work 
in a nursing home (eg. Felony conviction of child abuse, sexual assault, or 
assault with a deadly weapon), then the facility must report that individual 
to the nurse aide registry (if a nurse aide) or to the State licensing 
authorities (if a licensed staff member). Such a determination by the 
facility is not limited to mistreatment, neglect, and abuse of 
residents/tenants and misappropriation of their property, but to any 
treatment of residents/tenants or others inside or outside the facility which 
the facility determines to be such that the individual should not work in a 
nursing home environment. 

5. Wisconsin Statue 146.995 provides that any person licensed, certified or 
registered by the state . . . reporting in good faith . . . and any in-patient 
health care facility that employs the person who reports . . . a wound 
believed to have occurred as a result of a crime . . . are immune from civil 
and criminal liability that may result because of the report. 

 
Misconduct  
Definitions: 

1. Caregiver Misconduct – defined as abuse, neglect, misappropriation of 
property, injury of unknown origin; failure to follow policies/procedures; 
failure to follow resident/tenants individualized plan of care. 

2. See following pages for definitions of abuse, neglect, misappropriations 
and injury of unknown source. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 



 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 



 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 
 

 
 



 

 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 



 
 



 

 
 



 
 



 
 
Content: Caregiver Misconduct; abuse, neglect, and misappropriation can occur in 

many forms.  Listing all forms of abuse/neglect is not feasible for this policy; 
therefore attention has been directed toward the most frequent caregiver 
behaviors which include verbal and non-verbal clues given by 
residents/tenants.  Suspected caregiver misconduct criteria include, but may 
not be limited to: 

• Behavior exhibited by an abusive or potentially abusive staff member 
include:  physically abusive acts, (excessive use of restraints, pushing, 
grabbing, shoving, pinching, slapping, hitting, kicking, yelling, insulting, 
isolation, swearing, demeaning to damage emotionally). 

• Non-verbal behaviors which employees are asked to report include:  the 
comfort of residents/tenants with various staff members, recognizing the 
number of residents/tenants with bruising, observing resident/tenant 
behaviors, evidence of residents/tenants left in urine or feces without 
cleaning, and the presence of unhealing bed sores; failure to follow care 
plan, failure to toilet residents/tenants, failure to meet needs of 
residents/tenants; unbathed, poor oral hygiene, malnourished, frequent 
falls, obvious old and/or new bruising; pressure marks; display of quiet, 
withdrawn or frightened behavior.  Various acts or omissions may create a 
criminal liability to the staff and/or facility. 

• All employees are required to inform the Clinical Director, Resident Care 
Coordinator, Unit Manager, or administrator of any suspected or 
substantiated cases of caregiver misconduct, abuse, neglect or 
misappropriation immediately, within 24 hours.  

• Staff understands that retaliating against employees or others who report 
caregiver misconduct, abuse, neglect or misappropriations is not permitted 
and will be immediately addressed by Clinical Director or administration. 

• All employees who report caregiver misconduct, abuse, neglect, 
misappropriations “in good faith” will be protected from discharge of their 
position within RASLC. 

• Special attention to potential resident-resident abuse; awareness of 
situations; preventative actions to minimize harm; prevention; notification 
strategies. 

 
Procedure: A.  Prevention of Caregiver misconduct through following deliberate steps: 

1. Application process for employees includes: question “Have you been 
convicted of any violations other than traffic offenses within the past five 
years?”  All applicants will be required to answer same.  (Human 
Resources) 

2. Employees will have criminal investigative reports checked with the Crime 
Investigators Bureau (Human Resources). 

3. State Nurse Aide registry records status will be checked.  (Human 
Resources)  Includes conducting inquiries to out-of-state registries when 
indicated. Professional credentials/licensure will be checked.   

4. Performs a comprehensive reference check review. 
5. Prevention of resident/tenant abuse/neglect is performed through the 

following deliberate steps: 



a. Providing continued education for staff about dementia and other 
underlying causes of resident/tenant aggression, dealing with 
catastrophic events. 

b. Providing staff with training in specific techniques for managing 
interpersonal conflict with residents/tenants.  Management of violent 
residents/tenants (supporting co-workers) and a system to summon 
assistance. 

c. Addressing job stress, burnout, and dissatisfaction among staff. 
d. Providing stress management training and supportive assistance for 

staff.  Identifying high-risk behaviors in co-workers 
(caregiver/resident/tenant conflict over resident/tenant unwillingness 
to eat, dress, and maintain personal hygiene). 

e. Matching resident/tenant needs to the capabilities of the staff and 
facility. 

f. Protecting residents/tenants from abuse by other residents/tenants.  
Preventative actions such as informing supervisors about potential 
aggressive incidents to minimize harm. 

g. Ensuring that staff understands what constitutes caregiver 
misconduct, abuse, neglect, misappropriation of property. 

h. Policies and procedures which establish expectations of our staff. 
i. Ensuring staff awareness of RASLC written policy and procedure 

that address caregiver misconduct, abuse, neglect, misappropriation 
and employees suspected of elder abuse. 

j. Maintenance of an internal reporting system in which staff feel free 
to contact the Clinical Director, Resident/tenant Care Coordinator,  
RCAC Unit Manager, Social Services or Administration. 

k. Maintenance of a system in which the complaints of 
residents/tenants/family members are addressed. 

l. Maintenance of a cooperative relationship with the Ombudsman 
assigned to our facilities. 

6. All staff shall receive instruction on Resident/tenant Rights; Caregiver 
Misconduct, Abuse, Neglect, Misappropriations of Property; which 
includes, but is not limited to responsibilities to abstain from caregiver 
misconduct, abuse, neglect, misappropriations; to identify and report the 
same promptly.  Mandatory Inservicing occurs upon orientation, annually 
and as deemed necessary. 

7. Residents/tenants will be identified prior to admission and during stay for 
personal histories that render them at risk for mistreating/abusing other 
residents/tenants. They will have an assessment of appropriate 
intervention strategies to prevent occurrences; ongoing monitoring of the 
resident/tenant for any changes that would trigger abusive behavior and 
reassessment of the strategies on a regular basis. (Social Worker, Clinical 
Director). 

 
I.   All nursing homes must report all alleged violations involving mistreatment, 
neglect, or abuse, including injuries of unknown sources, and misappropriation of 
resident property immediately (within 24 hours) to the Division of Quality Assurance 
(DQA) via the online reporting system at 
https://doa.wi.gov/DHSSurveys/TakeSurvey.aspx?SurveyID=96M13ml4. In addition 
to federal and state reporting requirements, providers should notify local law 
enforcement authorities of any situation where there is a potential criminal offense. 



II.  In the event that caregiver misconduct, abuse, neglect or misappropriations of 
property or injuries of unknown origin are suspected, the following process is 
followed: 

a. First Priority is resident safety and the assessment and management of 
risk to resident/tenant.  Residents/tenants must be protected from 
potential harm during the investigation.  If necessary, staff will be sent 
home pending investigation. 
(1) All nursing homes must report all alleged violations involving 

mistreatment, neglect, or abuse, including injuries of unknown 
source, and misappropriations of resident property immediately 
(within 24 hours) to the Division of Quality Assurance (DQA) via the 
online reporting system at 
https://daq.wi.gov/DHSSurveys/TakeSurvey.aspx?SurveyID=96MI3
m14. In addition to federal and state reporting requirements, 
providers should notify local law enforcement authorities of any 
situation where there is a potential criminal offense. 

b. A complete investigation will be started immediately and conducted within 
5 days.  All alleged incidents will be reported immediately to 
administration, DQA – not to exceed 24 hours.  All alleged and 
investigated allegations of caregiver misconduct, abuse, neglect and 
misappropriations will be kept on file by Clinical Director. 

c. Notify charge nurse immediately, who then completes online reporting 
form.  It will be the responsibility of the charge nurse to notify 
administration or designee.  The Administrator or designee is to be notified 
immediately within 24 hours.  

d. Complaints about Administrator, Social Services, Clinical Director or 
Resident/tenant Care Coordinator should be made to Human Resources 
or Administration. 

e. Investigations begin promptly with the reporting of concern or problem. 
f. All nursing homes must also immediately begin a thorough investigation of 

all incidents and document the findings for each incident. A thorough 
investigation may include: 

• Collecting and preserving physical and documentary evidence; 

• Interviewing alleged victim(s) and witness(es); 

• Interviewing accused individual(s) (including staff visitors, resident’s 
relatives, etc.) allegedly responsible for mistreatment, or suspected of 
causing an injury of unknown source; 

• Interviewing other residents to determine if they have been abused or 
mistreated; 

• Interviewing staff who worked the same shift as the accused to 
determine if they ever witnessed any mistreatment by the accused; 

• Interviewing staff who worked previous shifts to determine if they were 
aware of an injury; 

• Collecting other information that corroborates or disproves if they were 
aware of an injury; 

• Collecting other information that corroborates or disproves the reported 
incident; and 

• Involving other regulatory authorities, who may assist, e.g. local law 
enforcement, e.g. local law enforcement, elder abuse agency, Adult 
Protective Service agency. 



Documentation of the situation is extremely important.  An investigation 
file is to be immediately initiated and will contain all written statements and 
notes.  The nature of the abuse allegation is documented along with how 
the suspicion came to be raised (observation, overheard, etc.).  

g. Documentation of the resident/tenant mental and physical status following 
the event is also added to the file. 

h. Documentation of the resident/tenant response to the event will assist in 
measuring the duration of the effects from the occurrence and assists the 
investigation process. 

i. Documentation that occurs immediately after an allegation must include 
how the reported information was acted upon and list the actions taken. 

j. Other factors to be contained in the record include:  time, date, actions 
involving the suspected employee, cooperation with outside agencies, 
internal investigations and a copy of all documents submitted to 
authorities. 

k. Review and preserve relevant documentation (ie: date dressing that was 
not changed when record indicated changed). 

l. Review staffing schedules to assist in identification of time frames and to 
determine staff involvement or knowledge of incident. 

m. Information from resident/tenant/witnesses/family is obtained individually 
in the form or a signed statement. 

n. During the investigation process, the employee is entitled to RASLC due 
process steps that are outlined in policy and is made aware of RASLC 
responsibility to report the allegations to the State of Wisconsin within 24 
hours. 

o. In the event an employee is found to have engaged in caregiver 
misconduct, abuse, neglect or misappropriation of property, termination of 
employee occurs. 

  II. Follow these steps to report the results of an investigation to DQA: 
1. Thoroughly complete the Incident Report form (F-62447), and attach relevant  
 investigation documents.  
2. Insure the completed Incident Report is submitted within five (5) working days 

of the incident, or the date the entity became aware of the incident. 
3. For allegations involving all perpetrators (staff member, resident, family 

member, friend, visitor, stranger, etc.), submit to : 
Division of Quality Assurance 

Office of Caregiver Quality 
PO Box 2969 

Madison, WI 53701-2969 
OCQ forwards all reports to the DQA Bureau of Nursing Home Resident Care 
(BNHRC). In addition, OCQ refers reports involving : 

• Facility issues (resident to resident incidents, policy and procedure issues, 
etc.) to the appropriate DQA BNHRC Regional Office ; 

• Non-caregiver accused (family member, friend, visitor, etc.) to the 
appropriate county adult at risk agency ; and 

• Credentialed staff (Physician, RN, LPN, Social Worker, etc.) to the  
Department of Safety and Professional Services 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 Resources & Questions 
 See the following investigation resources : 

•••• Conducting Internal Investigations of Caregiver Misconduct Training – Webcast Series 
http://dhs.wisconsin.gov/caregiver/training/intInvstTrng.htm 

•••• Conducting Internal Investigations Training – Materials 
http://dhs.wisconsin.gov/caregiver/training/conIntInvstTrg.htm 

•••• Investigation Protocol 

•••• http://dhs.wisconsin.gov/caregiver/training/pdfcaregvtrng/conMiscdctInvst.pdf 
 
If you have questions about reporting or investigation requirements, or are unsure if a specific 
incident should be reported, please contact the Office of Caregiver Quality at 
DHSCaregiverIntake@wisconsin.gov or (608) 261-8319. 
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